NO. 2007-CA-00429-SCT

ANTHONY DOSS, Appellant, vs. STATE OF MISSISSIPPI, Appellee. BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

ROBERT B. MCDUFF Miss. Bar No. 767 North Congress Street Jackson, Mississippi 39202 (601) 969-0802

Counsel for Appellant

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Anthony Doss, Appellant;
- 2. Robert B. McDuff, Attorney for Appellant;

Statement of Facts
SUM	IMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
STA	NDARD OF REVIEW19
ARG	EUMENT
I.	MR. DOSS DID NOT RECEIVE THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT THE SENTENCING PHASE OF HIS TRIAL
	The Failure to Meet an Objective Standard of Reasonableness
	The Resulting Prejudice
П.	THE DECISION IN ATKINS V. VIRGINIA REQUIRES THAT THE DEATH SENTENCE IN THIS CASE BE SET ASIDE
CON	CLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Anderson v. Sirmons, 476 F.3d 1131 (10th Cir. 2007)
Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304 (2002) passim
Bean v. Calderon, 163 F.3d 1073 (9th Cir. 1998)
Bowling v. Commonwealth, 163 S.W.3d 361 (Ky. 2005)
Brewer v. Aiken, 935 F.2d 850 (7th Cir. 1990)
Brown v. State, 749 So. 2d 82 (Miss. 1999)
Burns v. State, 813 So. 2d 668 (Miss. 2001)
Carter v. Bell, 218 F.3d 581 (6th Cir. 2000)
Chase v. State, 873 So. 2d 1013 (Miss. 2004)
Commonwealth v. Snead, 899 A.2d 1067 (Pa. 2006)
Correll v. Ryan, 465 F.3d 1006 (9th Cir. 2006)
Davis v. State 743 So. 2d at 339 (Miss. 1999)
Doss v. Mississippi, 523 U.S. 1111 (1998)
Doss v. State, 709 So. 2d 369 (Miss. 1996)
Doss v. State, 882 So. 2d 176 (Miss. 2004)
Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104 (1982)
Eddmonds v. Peters, 93 F.3d 1307 (7th Cir. 1996)
Ex Parte Briseno, 135 S.W.3d 1 (Tex. Crim. App. 2004)
Frierson v. Woodford, 463 F.3d 982 (9th Cir. 2006)
Glenn v. Tate, 71 F.3d 1204 (6th Cir. 1995)
Goodin v. State, 856 So. 2d 267 (Miss. 2003)

Haliym v. Mitchell, 492 F.3d 680 (6th Cir. 2007)21,27
Hamblin v. Mitchell, 354 F.3d 482 (6th Cir. 2003)
Hannah v. State, 943 So. 2d 20 (Miss. 2006)
Harries v. Bell, 417 F.3d 631 (6th. Cir. 2005)
Hendricks v. Calderon, 70 F.3d 1032 (9th Cir. 1995)
Hobgood v. State, 926 So. 2d 847 (Miss. 2006)
Leatherwood v. State, 473 So. 2d 964 (Miss. 1985)
Lockett v. Anderson, 230 F.2d 695 (5th Cir. 2000)
Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586 (1978)
Lynch v. State, 951 So. 2d 594 (Miss. 2007)
Outten v. Kearney, 464 F.3d 401 (3rd Cir. 2006)
Penry vs. Lynaugh, 492 U.S. 302 (1989)
Poindexter v. Mitchell, 454 F.3d 564 (6th. Cir, 2006)
Rompilla v. Beard, 545 US at 393 (2005)
Ross v. State, 954 So. 2d 968 (Miss. 2007)
Russell v. Collins, 998 F.2d 1287 (5th Cir. 1993)
State v. Dunn, 831 So. 2d 862 (La. 2002)
State v. Tokman, 564 So. 2d 1339 (Miss. 1990) passim
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)
Summerlin v. Schriro, 427 F.3d 623 (9th Cir. 2005)
Turpin v. Christenson, 497 S.E. 2d 216 (Ga. 1998)
Turpin v. Lipham. 510 S.E. 2d 32 (Ga. 1998)

f	,
	United States v. Nelson, 419 F. Supp. 2d 891 (E.D. La. 2006)
	Wallace v. Stewart, 184 F.3d 1112 (9th Cir. 1999)
	Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510 (2003)
	Williams v. State, 445 So. 2d 798 (Miss. 1984)
	(Terry) Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362 (2000)
	Woodward v. State, 635 So. 2d 805 (Miss. 1993)
	STATUTES AND RULES
	Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-103
	Miss. R. Evid. 702
	OTHER AUTHORITIES
	American Association of Mental Retardation, Mental Retardation: Definition, Classification, Assistance, and Support, 10th Edition (2002) passim
	American Bar Association, Guidelines for the Appointment and Performance of Counsel in Death Penalty Cases (2003)

÷

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- 1. In this capital case where trial counsel (a solo practitioner with no death penalty experience appointed to handle the case by himself) presented only one mitigation witness to the jury at the sentencing phase (the defendant's mother) to testify for only eight pages of transcript, including cross-examination, and where counsel did not conduct the thorough mitigation investigation that is a baseline requirement for effective capital defense, and where there was extensive mitigation evidence that could have been presented to the jury, including evidence documented by the court-appointed experts from Whitfield in this case, was there ineffective assistance of counsel that prevented the jury from hearing the relevant evidence before undertaking the awesome burden of deciding whether to sentence a person to death?
- 2. Does the evidence in this case require that the death sentence be vacated under the decision in *Atkins v. Virginia*, 536 U.S. 304 (2002).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Course of Proceedings

Anthony Doss was convicted of capital murder in the Circuit Court of Grenada County, Mississippi. His conviction was affirmed by this Court on direct appeal by a unanimous vote, and his death sentence also was affirmed, but only by a 5-4 vote. *Doss v. State*, 709 So. 2d 369 (Miss. 1996). Certiorari was denied by the United States Supreme Court. *Doss v. Mississippi*, 523 U.S. 1111 (1998). A post-conviction petition subsequently was filed and this Court unanimously granted leave to proceed in the circuit court on the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel at sentencing, and also granted leave, with only one Justice dissenting, to proceed on a claim under *Atkins v. Virginia*, 536 U.S. 304 (2002). *Doss v. State*, 882 So. 2d 176 (Miss. 2004). However, the Circuit Court, Judge Joseph Loper, rejected both the ineffective assistance and *Atkins* claims, and refused

to set aside the death sentence. This appeal follows.

Statement of Facts

As the trial judge's report in this case explained, the victim was shot and killed not by the petitioner, Mr. Doss, but by his co-defendant, Freddie Bell. This Court's direct appeal opinion pointed out that Bell instigated the crime. *Doss v. State*, 709 So. 2d 369, 376 (Miss. 1996). But Mr. Doss's appointed trial counsel, H. Lee Bailey of Grenada, had never handled a death penalty case before. At the sentencing phase, he presented only one witness, Mr. Doss's mother, whose entire testimony, direct and cross, covered only eight pages of transcript. (The entire transcript of the sentencing phase, including bench discussions and what little testimony was presented, is contained in Exhibit D-5 introduced at the post-conviction evidentiary hearing). On appeal, this Court affirmed the death sentence by a 5-4 vote. One of the reasons for the close vote was the view of several of the dissenting justices that Mr. Doss did not deserve the death penalty since he was not the triggerperson and not the instigator of the crime. 709 So. 2d at 403 (dissenting opinion).

The undersigned counsel was appointed to represent Mr. Doss in post-conviction proceedings. Counsel investigated the case, interviewed Mr. Bailey, and obtained an affidavit from him, which was attached to the post-conviction petition. When later reviewing that petition and granting leave to proceed in the Circuit Court, this Court said the following:

[W]e conclude that Doss has made a sufficient showing under the *Strickland* test that Bailey's efforts fell short of the efforts a counsel should make in a death penalty sentencing trial, so as to entitle Doss to an evidentiary hearing on this claim in the circuit court. This was Bailey's first death penalty case, and he admitted that he did not know what he was doing in the sentencing phase. When counsel makes choices of which witnesses to use or not use, those choices must be based on counsel's proper investigation. Counsel's minimum duty is to interview potential witnesses and to make an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case. *Woodward* [v. State], 635 So. 2d [805,] 813 [(Miss. 1993)] (Smith, J, concurring in

part).

882 So. 2d at 189 ¶ 31. This Court described Mr. Bailey's affidavit as follows:

Doss relies first on the affidavit of his trial attorney who states that: Doss's was the first case he had defended where the death penalty was sought; he did not seek any school, medical, mental health or other records, because he did not realize the importance of the records in presenting a defense during the sentencing phase; he did not seek advice from a mental health expert, funds for a mental health expert or any kind of mental health evaluation. . . . Bailey states that he felt he did a good job in defending the case at the guilt phase, but that he did not know what he was doing as to the sentencing phase.

882 So. 2d at 186 ¶ 20.

Mr. Bailey's affidavit also candidly stated that in this, his first and only capital trial: "I failed to undertake the essential functions of properly and thoroughly investigating mitigation and presenting a defense at the penalty phase." Ex. E to the post-conviction petition, ¶ 15. He explained that his failures "were not motivated by any particular strategic reason," but by his "inexperience in this particular type of proceeding." *Id*.

After this Court granted leave to proceed, an evidentiary hearing was held in the Circuit Court. Mr. Bailey testified at that hearing and confirmed that he had never represented a defendant in a death penalty case and has not done so since. Tr. 56. But he made a correction to his affidavit. While the affidavit said that Mr. Bailey "had not sought any school, medical, mental health or other records regarding Mr. Doss," Mr. Bailey testified that two days prior to the evidentiary hearing, he had discovered some records in a "big box that I had old criminal files stored away in." Tr. 58. These had been sent to Mr. Bailey by an attorney in Memphis who represented Mr. Doss on a separate charge there. They had not been stored in the case file that Mr. Bailey compiled on Mr.

¹ The post-conviction petition and exhibits are on file in this Court under the case number 1999-DR-00296-SCT.

Doss's case and that is why he never found them during the time of the post-conviction investigation when he submitted his affidavit. *Id.* Moreover, the documents that Mr. Bailey did apparently receive and store in a separate box --- and find two days before the evidentiary hearing --- were not complete. They included a discharge summary regarding Mr. Doss from the North Mississippi Medical Center, but Mr. Bailey's copy did not contain the second page of the two-page summary. They also included a seven page report of the University of Mississippi Psychological Services Center regarding an evaluation it conducted of Mr. Doss at age 15, but Mr. Bailey's copy did not contain pages 2, 4, and 6. Mr. Bailey testified at the hearing that he did not recall making any effort to obtain the missing pages so that he would have a complete copy of these documents. Tr. 62-63.

The other documents that Mr. Bailey found in the old file included more psychological records, medical records from an injury when Mr. Doss was hit in the head with a pipe at age 13, a request for records from the Shelby County Public Defender's Office (which represented Mr. Doss in Memphis) to the Faraday Elementary School in Chicago requesting special education records and a response listing his grades and a notation that he received Learning Disabilities Resource Services at that school, and a Chicago high school record showing he failed four out of five grades. These were all introduced into evidence as Exhibit D-2 at the evidentiary hearing. Despite the fact that he apparently had these records, Mr. Bailey never did anything to present the mitigating evidence within them to the jury at the sentencing phase of the trial. Tr. 69-70.

At the post-conviction evidentiary hearing, Mr. Bailey confirmed most of the other things he had said in his affidavit, including the fact that he knew Mr. Doss had been in special education classes and suffered from blackouts, but that he (Bailey) did not consult a mental health expert or request a mental health evaluation of Mr. Doss in preparation for a possible sentencing phase. He

confirmed that he had admitted in his affidavit that there was no strategic reason for this. Tr. 69-70. Mr. Bailey testified that while he obtained funds for a mitigation investigator, Kelvin Winbush, and that he knew Mr. Winbush had never conducted a death penalty mitigation investigation before, he could not remember what he told Mr. Winbush to look for. He knew that Mr. Winbush also was conducting the mitigation investigation for the other person accused in this murder, Freddie Bell, but never considered that there might be a conflict. Mr. Bailey said that he did no mitigation investigation and contacted no family members in Chicago, where Mr. Doss grew up and had lived most of his life, and he did not ask Mr. Winbush to do any investigation there. Tr. 72-74.

Mr. Bailey conceded that according to his time sheet, he spent only thirty minutes total talking to Mr. Doss's mother, an aunt, and another person. He confirmed that his time sheets listed no other entries for talking to Mr. Doss's mother or any other family member. Prior to calling Mr. Doss's mother as a witness at the sentencing hearing, he said he spent "some minutes" talking to her there at the courthouse, but this was not a very long conversation. Tr. 76-77. He remembered no other meeting with Ms. Doss, but said he did speak with her on the phone "several" times. Tr. 75. He explained that his contact with Mr. Doss's family was very limited:

Q. ... [A]fter the verdict of guilt was returned you just had a very short period of time before sentencing phase, didn't you?

A. I think so.

Q. And you met with a group of family members outside, outside the courtroom; is that right?

A. Correct.

Q. It was a pretty short conversation, wasn't it?

A. Correct.

Q. And you said the aunt was there. And she said she couldn't testify to anything other than what the mother would say.

A. Correct.

- Q. And basically, other than the less than 30-minute conversation you had back in November with the mother and the aunt and any phone calls you had with the mother, that was the—that was your only contact with his family members was standing out in the hall with a bunch of people prior to the sentencing phase starting; that correct?
- A. Yeah. Other than those phone calls. Yeah. From what I remember. Yeah.
- Q. Now, Mr. Bailey, you know that these people weren't lawyers, didn't you?
- A. Right.
- Q. Okay. You knew that they had no experience about what is or isn't admissible or effective in a death penalty case, did they?
- A. No, they didn't.
- Q. And you had no experience in a death penalty case, did you?
- A. No.

Tr. 105-106.

After the case was remanded by this Court, and before the evidentiary hearing, the Circuit Court appointed the staff of the Mississippi State Hospital at Whitfield to serve as court-appointed experts and provide an opinion on the *Atkins* issue. A thirty-three page single-spaced report was prepared for the Circuit Court by Whitfield by Dr. W. Criss Lott and Dr. Gilbert S. MacVaugh, III. (The report was introduced as Defense Exhibit 1 at the evidentiary hearing). The Circuit Judge later called it "an excellent in-depth thirty-three (33) page report." R.E. 2 at 34.² (Circuit Court opinion

This brief will designate the record excerpts as "R.E. __ at __," with the first blank referring to the tab number listed in the table of contents to the Record Excerpts and the second to the internal page number in the document.

on remand). The Whitfield staff concluded that Mr. Doss was not mentally retarded as that term is used in *Atkins*. They believed that he met the subaverage intellectual deficit prong of the *Atkins* test, and their testing showed an IQ score of 70. Tr. 18-19.³ At the same time, they concluded that he did not have limitations in adaptive functioning that would lead to a diagnosis of mental retardation. The defense experts, Dr. Timothy Summers and Dr. Daniel Grant, agreed with the Whitfield experts that Mr. Doss met the intellectual deficit prong of *Atkins* because of consistently low IQ scores, but disagreed on the adaptive functioning question, believing as the result of his scores on a number of psychological tests, as well as other factors, that his adaptive deficits placed within the current definition of mental retardation.

The remaining facts related to the *Atkins* question will be discussed in greater detail in the argument portion of this brief. Most of the rest of this statement of facts addresses the mitigating evidence that could have been produced at the sentencing phase of the trial, but never was.

Although the court-appointed Whitfield experts concluded in the final analysis that Mr. Doss does not have the sort of the adaptive functioning deficits were not attributable to mental retardation, their evaluation demonstrated a wealth of mitigating evidence that could have been presented to the jury in the sentencing phase of the case and perhaps caused one or more jurors to decline to impose the death penalty. For example, the report from the Whitfield court-appointed experts referred, R.E. 1 at 14-15, to an earlier report from the University of Mississippi Psychological Services Center of an evaluation of Anthony when he was 15. This University of Mississippi report was the same report that Bailey had received prior to the trial from the Memphis lawyer but with several pages

³ The report originally listed the score as a 71, but a mistake was later discovered in the scoring and it was corrected by the Whitfield experts to a 70. Tr. 18.

missing that he neglected to obtain. (A complete copy of the University of Mississippi report was introduced as Exhibit D-4 at the evidentiary hearing). As the Whitfield court-appointed experts noted, the University of Mississippi report included testing showing that Mr. Doss had a full-scale IQ of 71 and had achieved sixth grade level in arithmetic and below third grade level in reading and spelling. The report also indicated the possibility of organic brain damage, saying the Bender Motor Gestalt test results "revealed that there may be some organic basis to Anthony's difficulties." The report also recommended special education for Anthony, saying he "would probably benefit from some special education classes in his local school district." R.E. 1 at 15.

Indeed, the University of Mississippi report was the one that was included in the records Mr. Bailey found in an old file and that was missing pages 2, 4, and 6, which Bailey apparently never tried to obtain. His copy included only 1, 3, 5, and 7. (See, Tr. 62-63; Ex. D-2 at exhibit record page numbers 114-117 (which are pages 1, 3, 5, and 7 from Bailey's file); Ex. D-4 (which is a complete copy of the report placed in evidence by post-conviction counsel)). It was page 5 of that report, which Bailey did have, that stated Anthony had an IQ of 71 and that "there may be some organic basis for Anthony's difficulties," and page 7, which he also had, stated that Anthony would benefit from special educational classes. Page 4, which Bailey did not have, explained that Anthony read and spelled at a level below third grade. Ex. D-4.

In addition to discussing the University of Mississippi evaluation, the Whitfield report also referred to more recent testing by Dr. Michael Gelbort and quoted Dr. Gelbort's report as follows:

Academic achievement was quite low with sight-reading at the second grade level, spelling at the fifth grade level, and math assessed in a written and timed format at the fourth grade level. Sixth grade performance is typically viewed as the minimum needed for adult activities to be functionally competent. . . . Tests of learning and memory found significant impairments. The patient has notable deficits in the areas

of sustained and focused attention and concentration. . . . The patient learns much more slowly and is limited in the amount he can learn as compared with his normal peers. . . .

R.E. 5 at 18. The Whitfield report went on to quote Dr. Gelbort's analysis to the effect that "[t]he possibility of a traumatically induced anxiety order such as PTSD clearly exists," and "[b]ased on the current evaluation and historical information reviewed, Mr. Doss does qualify and is diagnosed with Organic Brain Dysfunction. . . ." *Id.* at 18-19.

This was echoed at the evidentiary hearing by Dr. Timothy Summers, a psychiatrist who examined Mr. Doss and reviewed the various records, including the Whitfield report, and said Mr. Doss has long suffered from serious neurological problems. Tr. 183-190. Also, Dr. Daniel Grant, a psychologist who evaluated Mr. Doss, testified that Mr. Doss has organic brain dysfunction, and that his test results and diagnoses demonstrate that he is a follower rather than a leader. Tr. 134-35.

Returning to the Whitfield experts, they said in their report that the mitigating evidence stemming from Mr. Doss's background explains in part why they concluded that he did not have the adaptive functioning deficits that would qualify him for a mental retardation designation under *Atkins*:

On the surface, Mr. Doss' history might seem to suggest that he has demonstrated significant limitations in some areas of adaptive skills in the community (i.e., functional academics, work, self-direction, health, and safety). However, it is our opinion that these apparent difficulties may be better explained by his history of neglect, abuse, and maladaptive behaviors . . . Moreover, given the chaotic environment in which Mr. Doss was reared, his history suggests that he was fairly adept in coping with the life demands for someone his age in that environment.

R.E. 5 at 32.

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