## NO. 2007-CA-00429-SCT

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

ANTHONY DOSS,

**Appellant** 

versus

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI,

Appellee

# **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

JIM HOOD ATTORNEY GENERAL STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MARVIN L. WHITE, JR.
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Miss. Bar No.
Counsel of Record

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL P.O. Box 220 Jackson, Mississippi 39205 (601) 359-3680

Counsel for Appellee

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The petitioner failed to demonstrate that counsel was ineffective in failing to conduct further investigation into mitigation evidence in this case. And failed to demonstrate that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to obtain a mental health expert to testify during the mitigation phase of this case.

The trial court properly found that the test for mental retardation was that announced by this Court in *Chase v. State* instead of the test employed by petitioner's expert. The court's experts reading *Chase* felt bound by this Court's adoption of the test announced there. Petitioner's expert failed to administer any "test" to determine malingering as required by *Chase*.

### **ARGUMENTS**

# I. PETITIONER RECEIVED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT THE SENTENCE PHASE OF HIS TRIAL.

Petitioner's first contention is that the Circuit Court erred when it found that he was not denied the effective assistance of counsel at the sentencing phase of this capital murder trial. The State would assert that the circuit court's finding that trial counsel did not render ineffective assistance of counsel at the sentencing phase of petitioner's trial is not clearly erroneous.

The Court recently reiterated the standard by which a circuit court's decision on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is to be assessed on an appeal of the denial of post-conviction relief in *Loden v. State*, 971 So.2d 548 (Miss. 2007). There the Court held:

¶ 61. "Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct. 2052. In evaluating counsel's performance:

[f]irst, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable. Unless a defendant makes both showings, it cannot be said that the conviction or death sentence resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable.

Id. at 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (emphasis added). "[T]here is no reason for a court deciding an ineffective assistance claim to . . . address both components of the inquiry if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on one." Id. at 697, 104 S.Ct. 2052. This Court finds that the circuit court was not "clearly erroneous" in finding that counsel's performance was not deficient. Brown,

731 So.2d at 598.

971 So.2d at 573-574. [Emphasis added.]

In *Brown v. State*, 731 So.2d 595 (Miss. 1999), this Court held:

¶ 6. When reviewing a lower court's decision to deny a petition for post conviction relief this Court will not disturb the trial court's factual findings unless they are found to be clearly erroneous. Bank of Mississippi v. Southern Mem'l Park, Inc., 677 So.2d 186, 191 (Miss. 1996). However, where questions of law are raised the applicable standard of review is de novo. Id.

731 So.2d at 598.

In *Holland v. State*, 587 So.2d 848 (Miss. 1991), this Court held that mixed questions of law and fact are to be assessed as follows:

... In other words: (1) if the judge based his finding upon appropriate principles of law; (2) and the finding is supported by the facts (i.e., by substantial evidence); (3) then this Court may not reverse. Schmitt v. State, k560 So.2d 148, 151 (Miss.1990)...

587 So.2d at 860.

It is with these standards of review in mind that we proceed to discuss the trial court's findings regarding whether petitioner was denied the effective assistance of counsel at the sentence phase of his trial.

It is clear from the circuit court's opinion denying relief that the court based his finding on the appropriate principles of law. The circuit court held:

In the case of *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984), a two part test was devised for courts to use in determining whether a criminal defendant had ineffective assistance of counsel. First, a determination must be made as to whether the defense counsel's performance was deficient when measured by the objective standard of reasonable professional competence? And if so, a defendant must then

show that it is reasonably probable that but for the attorney's errors, the result would have been different.

C.P. at 19.

Clearly, the trial court based its findings on the appropriate principles of law and the findings were not clearly erroneous.

This Court held in Bell v. State, 879 So.2d 423 (Miss. 2004):

- ¶ 8. To establish a claim for ineffective assistance of counsel the petitioner must prove that under the totality of circumstances (1) the counsel's performance was deficient and (2) the deficient performance deprived the defendant of a fair trial. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); Benson v. State, 821 So.2d 823, 825 ¶ 5 (Miss.2002); Burns v. State, 813 So.2d 668, 673 ¶ 14 (Miss.2001). "The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness [of counsel] must be whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." Burns v. State, 813 So.2d at 673 ¶ 14 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686, 104 S.Ct. at 2063).
- ¶ 9. With regard to the showing of deficient performance, the inquiry focuses on whether counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362, 391, 120 S.Ct. 1495, 1511, 146 L.Ed.2d 389 (2000); Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688, 104 S.Ct. at 2064. That is, consider whether the assistance was reasonable under all the circumstances seen from counsel's perspective at the time, and the prevailing professional norms for attorneys. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688, 104 S.Ct. at 2065; Burns, 813 So.2d at 673 ¶ 14; Neal v. State, 525 So.2d 1279, 1281 (Miss.1988). Defense counsel is presumed competent, and because of the distorting effects of hindsight, there is a strong presumption that counsel's conduct is within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct. at 2065; Burns, 813 So.2d at 673 ¶ 14.
- ¶ 10. Regarding the deprivation of a fair trial, the petitioner must show how counsel's errors prejudiced the defense. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 693, 104 S.Ct. at 2067; *Burns*, 813 So.2d at 673-74 ¶ 14. The petitioner must show "a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at

691-94, 104 S.Ct. at 2066-68; *Burns*, 813 So.2d at 673-74. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. at 2068.

¶ 11. If the petitioner is challenging the conviction, the question is whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the fact finder would have had a reasonable doubt respecting guilt. *Id.* If the petitioner is challenging the sentence, the question is whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the sentencer-including an appellate court to the extent it independently reweighs the evidence-would have concluded that the balance of aggravating and mitigating circumstances did not warrant death. *Id.* 

879 So.2d at 430-31.

The case at bar is not similar to that found in *Wiggins v. Smith*, 539 U.S. 510, 123 S.Ct. 2527, 156 L.Ed.2d 471 (2003), or *Rompilla v. Beard*, 545 U.S. 374, 125 S.Ct. 2456, 162 L.Ed.2d 360 (2005). In those cases, there was a wealth of information to be found in court records and social services records that counsel did not bother to obtain or consider. That is not the situation in the case at bar. Here the information available to counsel were two 1988 reports, one from the University of Mississippi Psychological Services Center and one from the North Mississippi Medical Center. Both of these reports were the result of referrals from the Youth Court because of petitioner's legal problems for burglaries and possession of marijuana. Neither of these reports found petitioner to be retarded.<sup>3</sup>

Looking to the live evidence introduced at the evidentiary hearing we find that petitioner offered the testimony of his trial counsel, Hugh Lee Bailey, Jr., his mother Sadie Doss, his first cousin, Q. T. Doss, Sandra Price, and his natural father, Sam Phillips. He also

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>These reports will be discussed more fully *infra*.

offered the testimony of Dr. Criss Lott, Dr. David Grant and Dr. Timothy Summers.

#### **HUGH LEE BAILEY**

Considering the testimony of Lee Bailey we find that he had not represented a defendant in a death penalty case prior to that time, nor has he done so since that time. Tr. 56. He stated that he had given an affidavit to post-conviction counsel about five years prior to the hearing. Tr. 56.4 He agreed that his affidavit stated that he did not obtain any school. medical or mental health records pertaining to petitioner. He stated that since the time that he had given the affidavit, in preparation for the evidentiary hearing that he had discovered other records which make statements in the affidavit incorrect. The materials he found were the school, medical, and mental health records of petitioner. Therefore the statement in his affidavit that he did not obtain these records was incorrect. Tr. 56-57. Bailey stated that he was in contact with petitioner's attorney in Tennessee, Caroline Watkins. Tr. 58. He stated that he got some records from Watkins, but they were not in the regular file. Tr. 58. Bailey, after reviewing the records stated that the records appeared to be records from the North Mississippi Medical Center, some Shelby County records from Joyce King, legal investigator, and some records from Bethany Hospital in Chicago. Tr. 59-60. Counsel for petitioner pointed out that there were pages missing from the reports obtained from Memphis. Tr. 61-62. Bailey was asked if he ever contacted the Memphis office to obtain copies of the missing page. Bailey stated that he could not remember. Tr. 62-63. Bailey was next shown the report from the University of Mississippi, he stated that he did not get pages

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>This would have been some eight years after the trial of the case.

2, 4 or 6 of the report. He stated that he could not recall if he requested these pages from the Memphis lawyers. Tr. 63.

Bailey stated that he did not seek the assistance of a mental health expert. He stated that he did not request funds for such an expert nor did he ask for any type of mental health evaluation. Tr. 69. Bailey explained that in his conversations with petitioner he found that petitioner had no problems discussing the case with him. Bailey stated that petitioner explained everything about the case to him. He stated that petitioner explained how he grew up and he took notes about his early life. Bailey stated that he did not have those now, but he did remember taking those notes. He also remembered discussing different aspects of the case with him. Tr. 69-70. Bailey testified that from these conversations that he felt petitioner was competent to stand trial. Tr. 70.

Bailey stated that he asked the trial court to appoint an investigator and the court appointed Kevin Winbush. Winbush was also appointed as an investigator for Freddie Bell, his co-defendant. Tr. 70-71. Bailey stated that Winbush furnished some written reports to him. Tr. 71. These reports consisted of pages with one or two paragraphs on each sheet. Tr. 72. Asked if he ever asked Winbush to follow up on any of these witnesses, he stated "[n]ot that he could remember." Tr. 72. He stated he did not consider that it would be a conflict of interest for Winbush to be an investigator for both defendants. Bailey replied "[n]o." Tr. 72-73. Bailey stated that he did not ask Winbush or anyone else to do any investigation in Chicago. Tr. 73. He stated that he did not request funds for any investigation in Chicago, he

stated that he had talked to Miss Doss and that he had an investigator in Winbush. He stated that he would tell Winbush people that he needed to contact and Winbush wold go off on his own and talk to people and bring back his report. Winbush reported to him that these were the only people that he could find that had anything to say about petitioner. Tr. 73-74. He stated that he told Winbush that he needed to find some witnesses for the mitigation phase of the trial. Tr. 74. Asked what he told Winbush to look nor in the way of mitigation he stated that he did not remember. Tr. 74.

Bailey testified that he attempted to put Mark Hendricks on as a mitigation witness during the trial. However, he ultimately decided not to do so. Tr. 74. He stated that in talking with petitioner he had told him that he had been a confidential informant for Hendricks, who was the chief of police in Derma, Mississippi. Tr. 74-75. He spoke with Hendricks and he stated that he would be "happy to testify." Tr. 75. The only problem was that Hendricks could testify as to some bad acts of petitioner. Tr. 75. Bailey filed a motion in limine to try and keep this information out, but he motion was overruled by the trial court. Tr. The discussed this with Anthony and they decided not to call him. Tr. 75.

Bailey testified that he had several telephone conversations with Sadie Doss, but did not remember meeting her prior to trial. Tr. 75. He stated that although the time sheet only one or two calls that he talked to Miss Doss more times than that. Tr. 75. He stated that he did not recall if he met her before trial. Tr. 75-76. He stated that his time records showed that he spoke with Sadie Doss and petitioner's aunt on the telephone November 23 for about thirty minutes. Tr. 76-77. He stated that he personally met with Miss Doss shortly before

he called her as a witness. Tr. 77.

Bailey was then questioned regarding the question he asked of Miss Doss regarding the length of petitioner's incarceration if he was sentenced to life. Tr. 77. Bailey asked Miss Doss:

You realize if the jury should sentence him, give him life, that it will be a long time before he comes back. Do you realize that?

Tr. 77.5

Asked why he asked this question, Bailey stated that under his reading of the law that he wold not be in prison for ever as he was eligible for parole. Tr. 77-78. Post-conviction counsel asked if Bailey was aware any decision of this Court which stated that there should be no discussion of the possibility of parole in a death penalty case. Bailey replied "[n]o." Tr. 78.

Bailey concluded his direct testimony by stating that he had never done a case like this before. Tr. 78.

On cross-examination Bailey testified that at the time of this trial he had some fifteen years of experience as an attorney and that a large part of his practice was criminal defense work. Tr. 79.

Bailey was then questioned about his affidavit in this case. He stated that when contacted by the state he really did not remember doing an affidavit, but got a copy from petitioner's post-conviction counsel. Tr. 80. Upon receiving a copy of the affidavit and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Trial transcript at 289.

reading it his thought was "whoa, this is stout." Tr. 80. He then stated:

But I have no idea what was going through my mind. I would—I would think that there was a sense of allegiance to Anthony but, you know, I can't remember. That's been a goo while.

Tr. 80.

Bailey stated that part of the trouble he had in reconstructing things is that he has not had his file in years. Tr. 80. He stated that he had forgotten who got his file. Tr. 81. He stated that he only got his file the day before the evidentiary hearing. Tr. 81. At that point he told post-conviction counsel to just keep it as he did not have time to go through it at that point. Tr. 82.

He stated that in his opinion he did everything he could to prevent petitioner from getting the death penalty. He stated that he did try and find mitigation witnesses. He stated that he talked with petitioner and got the name of Mark Hendricks. He stated that petitioner did not have "real good spots." Tr. 82. He stated that he was able to get an instruction in mitigation on several factors. *See* States Exhibits 1 and 2. Bailey then read the mitigation factors contained in these instructions. Tr. 84-85.

Bailey stated that the portion of his affidavit that stated that he did not attempt to obtain any school, medical, mental health or other records regarding petitioner was not true.

Tr. 85.

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